IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


Allen V. Mclnarnay and Arlene S. Mclnarnay, 

Defendants Below, Petitioners, 

vs. No. 17-0086 

Peggy T. Hall, Frank Hall, Russel Testerman, Jr., 
Isaac River Testerman and Cecilia Lee Testerman, 

Defendant Below, Respondents, 

PETITIONER'S BRIEF 

Comes now the Petitioners, by and through counsel, John H. Bryan, and for their 

Petitioners' Brief, submits the following: 

PETITIONER'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. Whether it was an abuse of discretion for the Circuit Court to set aside the jury 
verdict and grant a new trial under Rule 59 where the Court and all parties agreed at the close

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Plaintiffs below, and Petitioners herein, are adjoining landowners with the 

Respondents. Initially Respondent Peggy T. Hall was the sole adjoining landowner. During the 

litigation, she conveyed interests in the property to several family members, who were 

eventually included as named parties. Respondents filed the underlying action against the 

Petitioners in Monroe Circuit Court in 2006, seeking right-of-way access over the Petitioners' 

property. The action was filed shortly after the Petitioners purchased the property in order to 

develop and operate an alpaca farm. When the Petitioners purchased the property, they were 

not aware that there was an old right-of-way running across their property. There was nothing in 

the Mclnarnay's 2006 deed which mentioned. or described, a roadway running through their 
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property. Rather, unbeknownst to the Petitioners, there was a single sentence in a 1908 deed in 

their chain of title, which mentioned a "free road" running through the property (Holz Deposition 

at 189). Moreover, knowing that the Respondents had alternate access to their property, which 

through the years served as their primary access route, they sought to terminate the old right-of

way through a number of legal theories, including abandonment. 

After a two day trial, the Court and the parties agreed on the law of abandonment, and 

that the factual dispute regarding whether abandonment occurred should be given to the jury. 

On July 21, 2016, the jury found in their verdict that the right-at-way had been abandoned. The 

Court entered the verdict, thanked both parties, as well as the jurors, for their efforts and 

consideration. The Respondents did not move for judgment as a matter of law. Nor did they 

move for a new trial at that time. On July 29, 2016, the Respondents filed a "Motion for 

Judgment as a Matter of Law Or in the Alternative Motion for a New TriaL" 

On September 6, 2016, the parties appeared before the Court on the Respondents' 

motions. The Court correctly held that the Rule 50 motion should be denied due to the fact that 

the Respondents failed to make a Rule 50 motion during the trial. The only option available to 

the Respondents was Rule 59. On December 28, 2016, the Circuit Court granted a new trial 

under Rule 59, finding that the verdict was against the clear weight of the evidence, and ordered 

the parties to appear for a scheduling conference, for the purpose of obtaining a new trial date. 
, 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

After litigating the instant action since 2006, and after participating in a two-day jury trial 

with nineteen witnesses, including two expert witnesses, it would be a waste of court resources, 

as well as the parties resources, to throw out the verdict and have another trial just to see if the 

verdict changes. Since the Respondents failed to object to the sufficiency at the evidence prior 

to sending the case to the jury, they waived any objection to the sufficiency of the evidence. As 

such, Rule 50 relief could not be granted. The only available relief is a new trial under Rule 59, 
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which the Circuit Court granted. However, Rule 59 is not supposed to be granted based on 

sufficiency of the evidence. If it could, then any court could get around the requirements of Rule 

50 by just granting a new trial under Rule 59. Then, what would stop a court from scheduling 

the new trial, and then granting judgment as a matter of law, or even summary judgment prior 

to, or during the new trial. Such potential outcomes are unfair and are a gross violation of the 

rules. Petitioners played by the rules and won fair and square. The verdict should stand. There 

are numerous cases decided by this Court standing for the holding that failure to move under 

Rule 50 during trial is fatal to post-trial Rule 50 motions. Those cases would all be meaningless 

should the Monroe Circuit Court be allowed to effect the same result by using Rule 59. 

Even if sufficiency of the evidence were now reviewable, the record shows sufficient 

evidence of abandonment upon which any reasonable jury could have found abandonment. 

The original 1908 right of way fell into decades of not only non-use, but total and complete 

extinguishment. Both parties participated in, and acknowledged this extinguishment through 

their actions, such as putting up fences, maintaining and building alternate routes, putting up 

gates, building a pond in the old roadway, starting a trash heap in the roadway, and general 

actions consistent with intentional extinguishment of the 1908 road. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The petitioners seek an oral argument in conformance with Rule 19. 

ARGUMENT 

I. SUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENCE OBJECTIONS WERE WAIVED 

The Circuit Court abused its discretion in awarding a new trial to the Respondents under 

Rule 59 because both the Court, and the parties, agreed at the close of evidence that 

termination of an easement via abandonment was an issue proper for jury determination. As 

such, the Respondents waived any objection to the sufficiency of the evidence, and the Circuit 
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Court was powerless to review the sufficiency of the evidence. The Respondents should not be 

allowed another bite at the apple just because they did not agree with the verdict. 

Prior to the jury trial, both parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment and the 

Court held oral argument on June 1, 2015. On or about August 25, 2015, the Court granted the 

Petitioners' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and denied the Respondents Motion for 

Partial Summary Judgment, finding that there was no genuine factual dispute as to the 

existence of the 1908 easement, but that the Respondents raise valid claims regarding the 

location of the easement, as well as the alleged termination of the easement. 

During the jury trial of this matter, the Petitioners attempted to prove that they were 

entitled to use the Respondents' driveway, as well as a path through the Respondents' field, in 

lieu of the original location of the 1908 easement. There was no dispute regarding the best

known original location of the 1908 easement, which was documented by surveyor Dave Holz' 

plat, admitted into evidence at trial. The Petitioners presented evidence showing that the 

original 1908 easement was terminated by abandonment. 

Following the close of evidence, the Respondents chose not move for judgment as a 

matter of law I directed verdict and the case was submitted to the jury following instructions from 

the Court.1 The Circuit Court gave the opinion that the issue was not whether a right-of-way 

existed, but rather, whether the right-of-way was abandoned, and if not, the location of the right

of-way (Transcript at 261). The Circuit Court further stated that it had researched the issue of 

abandonment and that the issue of abandonment must be proven by clear and convincing 

evidence (Transcript at 264-65). The Court prepared a verdict form, and noted that one of the 

options would be termination by abandonment. Though asked if they had any objection, 

Respondents' counsel gave no objection (Transcript at 268-69). There were no concerns 

1 Neither did Respondents move for judgment as a matter of law at the close of Plaintiffs' case
in-chief. 
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brought forth, either by the Court, or by the Respondents, regarding any alleged insufficiency of 

the evidence. 

Following the charge and instructions, the jury deliberated and returned with a verdict 

finding that the 1908 express right of way to the Petitioners' property, over the Respondents' 

property, has been terminated by abandonment, and that the Petitioners' have no right of way 

over the Respondents' property. Following the reading of the verdict, the Circuit Court stated: 

All right. Well, congratulations and condolences, as the case may be, to both sides for a 
hard-fought case. Both of you did a good job. There's always winners, and there's 
losers. And that's the unfortunate thing about this. But I think everybody - nobody's 
disgraced their self. Everybody can hold their head up. So be it. So good luck to you. 

(Transcript at 292). 

Under Rule 59, a trial judge has the authority to find that a jury verdict is against the 

clear weight of the evidence, is based on false evidence or will result in a miscarriage of justice, 

and may set aside the verdict and grant a new trial. Morrison v. Sharma, 200 W. Va. 192, 488 

S.E.2d 467 (1997). However, a "party may not gamble on the verdict and later question the 

sufficiency of the evidence." Chambers v. Smith, 198 S.E.2d 806, 809, 157 W. Va. 77 (1973). 

Nor maya party seek a new trial under Rule 59 based on insufficiency of the evidence where 

the party failed to move for judgment as a matter of law I directed verdict under Rule 50 during 

the trial or at the close of evidence. Id. ("Even if a motion for new trial is made for insufficiency of 

the evidence, the failure to move for a directed verdict forecloses the question on appeal"). 

The Respondents entire argument for a new trial under Rule 59 consisted of only one 

sentence: "Respondents presented no evidence at trial which indicated that Petitioners intended 

to abandon their express easement across Respondents' property." The remainder of the 

Respondents' six page motion consisted of a Rule 50 motion, which accordingly had to be 

denied due to failure to move for Rule 50 during trial. Given the fact that Respondents were 

primarily arguing under Rule 50, their entire memorandum and argument complained of alleged 
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insufficiency of evidence of abandonment. However, at the trial, the Respondents never 

mentioned insufficiency of evidence. They failed to mention evidentiary concerns following the 

Plaintiff's case-in-chief; they failed to mention it at the close of all evidence; they failed to 

mention it at their opportunity to object to jury instructions pertaining to abandonment; they 

failed to mention it at their opportunity to object to the Court's verdict form giving an option for 

termination by abandonment. Similarly, neither did the Court mention any concerns regarding 

insufficiency of evidence of abandonment. Respondents gambled on the verdict, lost, and only 

later questioned the sufficiency of the evidence. Thus, following the holding in Chambers, for 

the Court to grant a new trial under the circumstances sub judice is an abuse of discretion. Id., 

198 S.E.2d at 809 ("The failure to move for a directed verdict forecloses the question [of 

insufficiency of evidence] on appeal). 

Like the petitioner in Chambers, the Respondents herein failed to move for a directed 

verdict at the close of evidence. 2 This Court held that such a failure was tantamount to an 

admission that the evidence was sufficient, and thus not reviewable on appeal: 

Although Rule 50(a} of the West Virginia Rules of Civil procedure (R.C.P.) expressly 
provides that a party may introduce evidence upon the refusal of his motion for a 
directed verdict made at the close of his opponent's case, it is well settled law and the 
courts adhere to the longstanding rule that introduction of evidence at that point of the 
trial constitutes a waiver of the objection to the sufficiency of the evidence unless the 
motion for a directed verdict is renewed after all of the evidence is in. 

"... Under these circumstances the question of the claimed insufficiency of the evidence 
is not before us and we must assume that the evidence supports the verdict." (citing 
American National Bank & Trust Company v. Dean, 249 F.2d 82 (6th Cir. 1957)} see also 
American Paint Service, Inc. V. Home Insurance Company of New York, 246 F.2d 91 (3d 
Cir. 1965); Hernandez v. Employer Mutual Liability Company of Wisconsin, 346 F.2d 154 
(5th Cir. 1965); and Gebhardt v. Wilson Freight Forwarding Company, 348 F.2d 129 (3d. 
Cir. 1965). 

2 Though the petitioner in Chambers did move for a directed verdict at the close of their case-in
chief. But the motion was not renewed at the close of evidence. The Respondents herein failed 
to make a Rule 50 motion at any point during the trial. 
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In a discussion of Rule 50 the necessity of a motion for a directed verdict at the 
conclusion of all of the evidence is succinctly noted in 2B Barron & Holtzoff, Sec. 1081 
as follows: 

"It is well established that the sufficiency of the evidence is not reviewable on appeal 
unless a motion for a directed verdict was made in the trial court. There are sound 
reasons for this rule. The party who makes no motion for a directed verdict must be of 
the view that the evidence makes a case for the jury and should not be permitted to 
impute error to the court for sharing that view. The appellate court, therefore, is 
powerless to review the sufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict if the appellant 
made no motion for a directed verdict. The only exception is where the insufficiency of 
the evidence constitutes plain error apparent on the face of the record which if not 
noticed would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice. Even if a motion for a new 
trial is made for insufficiency of the evidence, the failure to move for a directed 
verdict forecloses the question on appeal. A party may not gamble on the verdict 
and later question the sufficiency of the evidence." 

Similar expressions regarding the necessity of a motion for a directed verdict at the 
conclusion of all of the evidence are contained in SA Moore's Federal Practice, Sec. 
50.05. 

Chambers v. Smith, 198 S.E.2d 806,809 (W. Va., 1973) (emphasis added). The Court in 

Chambers reiterated that "we are of the opinion that, in the posture of this record, the defendant, 

even under Rule 59, could not receive the alternative relief of obtaining a new tria!." 

Similar to the facts in Chambers, the defendant made a Rule 50 motion, or in the 

alternative, a Rule 59 motion, and included very little specificity for the alternative Rule 59 

portion of the argument. The Court held that additional specificity was required: 

The first ground cited in support of the relief sought is that the verdict is contrary to the 
law and the evidence. Rule 7(b), R.C.P. provides that the grounds for a motion seeking 
an order of a court shall be stated with particularity. This Court has recently held, and we 
adhere thereto, that grounds for a motion for a new trial must be stated with particularity 
and if this is not done the motion should not be considered. 'Merely stating that 'The 
verdict is contrary to the evidence' has been held not to be sufficient to meet the 
requirements of stating the grounds with particularity.' Steptoe v. Mason, 153 W.Va. 783, 
172 S.E.2d 587. See 5 Wright and Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure, Section 1192, 
2A Moore, Federal Practice and Procedure, Section 7.05; 6A Moore, Federal Practice 
and Procedure, Section 59.09. 

Chambers v. Smith, 198 S.E.2d 806, 810 (W. Va., 1973). 

In the case sub judice, the Respondents said little more than "the verdict is contrary to 

the evidence" by merely stating, "Respondents presented no evidence at trial which indicated 
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that Petitioners intended to abandon their express easement across Respondents' property." As 

such, the motion should not have been considered by the Circuit Court on that basis alone. 

Inclusion of the alternative Rule 59 motion was merely incidental to the true motion being filed, a 

Rule 50 motion. The argument under Rule 59, and the Court's granting of the Rule 59 

argument was merely a stop gap measure due to cure the Respondents' failure to move under 

Rule 50 during the trial and at the close of evidence. The Respondents should not be allowed 

to skirt around the longstanding requirements of Rule 50. They cannot gamble on the verdict 

and later question the verdict based on sufficiency of the evidence. Likewise, the Circuit Court 

cannot grant a new trial under Rule 59 based on insufficiency of the evidence where the 

Respondents waived any objection to insufficiency of the evidence. Even this Court would be 

"powerless to review the sufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict if the appellant made 

no motion for a directed verdict." Id. at 809. 

Therefore, the Circuit Court erred in granting a new trial based off a vague, one

sentence argument made in the alternative to the Respondents' failed Rule 50 motion. The 

Court abused its discretion in throwing out a jury verdict six months after the Court had 

congratulated the Petitioners for winning. The Court abused its discretion in throwing out a jury 

verdict where a jury violated none of the Court's instructions, and where the jury chose one of 

the options provided on the jury verdict form drafted by the Court and approved by both parties. 

The Respondents cannot cure their failure to make a timely Rule 50 motion by obtaining a new 

trial under Rule 59. To allow that would render the longstanding requirements of Rule 50 

meaningless since Rule 50 could be invoked for any future new trial, thus giving the 

Respondents not only a second bite at the apple, but a second bite at Rule 50. 

As such, Petitioners respectfully request that this Court reverse the Circuit Court's 

December 27, 2016 order setting aside the July 21, 2016 jury verdict and reinstate the jury 

verdict, as well as the July 25, 2016 Judgment Order. 
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II. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE OF ABANDONMENT 

Assuming that the Circuit Court was entitled to review the sufficiency of evidence of 

abandonment presented at trial (given that Respondents waived any objection to the sufficiency 

of the evidence as discussed in section "1"), the Circuit Court erred in assuming that "sufficient" 

evidence of abandonment must be what amounts to a virtually impossible set of facts. The 

Court failed to adhere to the uniquely fact-based standard set out by this Court, and instead 

operated under a misapprehension of the law that there must be an absolute admission on the 

record by the Respondents that they desired to abandon and terminate the easement. To the 

contrary, the Petitioners met their burden of proving abandonment where the facts showed the 

road having been long ago abandoned in several different ways. 

The facts showed not only mere non-use, but complete extinguishment of the ancient 

roadway, with no actions having been taken by the Respondents to counter the extinguishment. 

The evidence showed that, due to the actions of the parties, the 1908 right of way route was 

gated off, fenced off, and treated by both parties as being extinguished. A pond was 

constructed in the old road location and junk was piled up where the road once stood. A new 

roadway was built in order to access the Petitioners' property in an entirely different location. 

The Respondents utilized their own separate access, and even put up to locked gates on their 

own access road (which was the other end of the same original right of way). The jury was 

correct in implying an intention to abandon on behalf of the Respondents. 

In its December 28, 2016 order, the Circuit Court found the following: 

In the instant case, the Court FINDS that the evidence is insufficient to support the jury 
verdict under Rule 59. concerning Plaintiffs' abandonment of the 1908 right of way. 
While there was ample evidence at trial concerning nonuse of the right of way, there was 
no evidence regarding intent to abandon by the Plaintiffs. Without proof of intent to 
abandon, there can be no abandonment. 

See December 28. 2016 order at 6. The Court further stated that: 
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Although the Plaintiffs' conceded that they rarely used the roadway across the lands of 
the Defendants, there was no evidence that they, or their predecessors in interest, had 
the intent to abandon this easement, and in fact, the testimony was that the Plaintiffs 
always intended to retain and improve this means of access to their property, as it was 
closer to the main highway. At most, the evidence produced by the Defendants, went to 
the issue of nonuse of the roadway in question, but the Defendants failed to prove by 
clear and convincing evidence that the Plaintiffs, or their predecessors in interest, had 
ever had any intention to abandon the easement created by the 1908 deed. 

Id. at 4. The Circuit Court disregarded the substantial amount of evidence presented to the jury 

over the course of two days, showing not only non-use of the old roadway, but also non-use 

coupled with circumstances showing both landowners had no intentions of using the old 1908 

roadway.

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