IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


Allen V. McInarnay and Arlene S. McInarnay, 

Defendants Below, Petitioners, 

vs. No. 17-0086 

Peggy T. Hall, Frank Hall, Russel Testerman, Jr., 

Isaac River Testerman and Cecillia Lee Testerman, 

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents. 

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF 

The Respondents, by and through counsel, David 1. Ziegler, Anna R. Ziegler, and 

Elise A. Keaton, respectfully request that this Honorable Court affirm the lower court's 

ruling in this action and submit the following: 

Petitioner's Assignments ofError 

1. 	 Whether it was an abuse of discretion for the circuit court to set aside the jury

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

the option it included. The court is in the best position to decide appropriate remedies for an 

erroneously included verdict option. 

3. Intent to abandon cannot be inferred from actual use as a matter of law. 

The Hall family's use of the easement-however intermittent or sporadic-cannot be 

construed as demonstrating an intent to abandon. West Virginia's rule regarding 

abandonment could not be articulated more clearly: "abandonment ofan easement must be 

shown by evidence of intent to discontinue the use and that evidence of nonuse, without 

more, is insufficient to extinguish the right." Strahin v. Lantz, 193 W. Va. 285, 288; 456 

S.E.2d 12,15 (1995) (emphasis added). The inference of abandonment can only be drawn 

from nonuse. The rule has been established in West Virginia for over a century. (See Weston 

v. Ralston, 48 W. Va. 170; 36 S.E. 446 (1900)). The rule also obtains in other jurisdictions: 

"mere non-use of an easement does not result in its loss or destruction, even if continued for 

a long period of time. Non-use may support a finding of intent to abandon, however, if the 

owner of the dominant estate performs clear, unequivocal and decisive acts." Downing 

House Realty v. Hampe, 497 A.2d 862, 864 (N.H. 1985) (citations omitted) (emphasis 

added). 

Thus, when the Mclnarnays admit to the fact of any use at all of the easement by the 

Hall family, they have given up the game. There is credible third party and witness 

testimony recounting numerous instances of the Hall family's use of the easement. The 

McInarnays themselves admit to three specific instances when the Hall family used the 

easement: when Linda Testerman cut the lock, when the parties hired the surveyor and 

brought him onto the easement, and when the McInarnays called law enforcement for the 

Hall family "trespassing" (Transcript at 225; 144-45; 147-48). Furthermore, the Hall family 

has chosen to invest considerable time and resources in litigating this issue over the course 
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of more than a decade. These are not the actions of individuals who had intended to 

abandon their right-of-way. There was no issue with the use of this right-of-way for 97 

years-not until the McInarnays bought the property. 

The rule quite specifically only allows inferences of abandonment from nonuse. On 

the facts admitted into the record and not disputed by the McInarnays, it is impossible by 

clear logic to find abandonment working off of the current rule. Ifby the plain meaning of 

words, we admit that any use at all cannot be equivalent to nonuse, and given that the rule 

only allows inferences of abandonment from nonuse, then we are forced to conclude that if 

the facts demonstrate any usage at all, then the inference of abandonment is foreclosed by 

the law. 

Therefore as a prima facie matter, the McInarnays' argument rests on a false 

equivalency: equating intermittent use with nonuse. This makes a muddle of the plain 

meaning ofwords, the law, and the facts ofthe case. All of the Mclnarnays' effort in 

distinguishing Strahin and Downing House (because those cases articulate the rule that is 

fatal to the Mclnarnays' case) is wasted because the Mclnarnays cannot get over this initial 

hurdle. 

3.1 The McInarnays fail to show decisive and conclusive facts that rise to the 

clear and convincing standard required to show intent to abandon. 

Because the McInarnays have presented no direct evidence of intent to abandon, the 

only available avenue for their case is to infer an intent to abandon from the intermittent 

nature of the Hall family's use of the easement. Besides being contrary to law, such 

inferences would be factually deficient as well. The rule is stated clearly: 
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Acts of the owner of the dominant estate relied upon to constitute an abandonment 

must be voluntary and must be of such a decisive and conclusive character as to 

indicate and prove his intention to abandon the easement. 

Weston v. Ralston, 48 W. Va. 170, 183; 36S.E. 446, 451 (1900) (citations omitted). The rule 

does not allow inferential evidence to rise to the level that would indicate an intent to 

abandon. "Decisive" and "conclusive" are clear standards applied to express and overt 

actions. These standards are logically inapplicable to inaction. Inaction, by its very nature, 

invites the opposite descriptions: "indecisive" and "inconclusive." 

In a case with a nearly identical fact pattern as this controversy, the Virginia 

Supreme Court articulated the rule: 

The party asserting the abandonment of an easement or right-of-way must prove 

that fact by clear and unequivocal evidence. Abandonment is a question of intention 

and may be proved by a cessation of use coupled with circumstances clearly showing 

an intention to abandon that right. 

Lipscomb v. Commins, 186 S.E.2d 74, 75 (Va. 1972). In that nearly identical case, the court 

found in favor of the dominant estate: the opposing party did not meet the burden of 

demonstrating an intent to abandon because there were no decisive or conclusive actions 

indicating intent to abandon. 

Thus-even ifallowed as a matter oflaw-the inferences drawn from the Hall 

family's periods of inaction towards the easement cannot by the nature of intermittent use 

meet the standard of the rule to demonstrate abandonment. The Hall family's periods of 

intermittent use cannot be interpreted as "decisive"_or "conclusive." Rather, the Hall 

family's intermittent use invites the opposite interpretation- decisively and conclusively 

showing intent not to abandon. Indeed, Peggy Hall testified that the family would always 

use the road as the need arose (Transcript at 141). 
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3.2 An. easement's existence is not affected by a change in location. 

The route of this easement changed over the years (Transcript at 160). This fact is 

irrelevant to the existence of the easement because the granting language in the deed.does 

not specify a location (PIs.' Ex. 1). In an on point Virginia case the servient estate had moved 

and improved the original easement. When the servient estate later brought a cause of 

action asserting that the easement was extinguished due to change oflocation, the court 

held: 

'[The servient estate] moved this road out of the creek and built it on dry land.' That 

being true, the [servient estate] cannot now be heard to say that the [dominant 

estate] cannot use it on the location so selected by the [servient estate] without 

objection from any source. The [dominant estate] is entitled to use a road over the 

[servient estate's] land which is not definitely described as to width and specific 

location in the deed. 

Wagoner v. Jack's Creek Coal Corp. 101 S.E.2d 627,629 (Va. 1958). Thus, the court held 

that the grant of easement entitled the dominant estate to the use of a road irrespective of 

the exact location. 

In our controversy the facts are even friendlier to the Hall family because the 

granting language of the deed is not location specific: "It is further agreed that their [sic] 

shall be a free Road through the above named land to the out side lines or County Road" 

(PIs.' Ex. 1). Furthermore, it was the McInarnays' predecessors in title that moved or made 

changes to the original route of the easement (Transcript at 160). The facts of our 

controversy being closely analogous to Wagoner, the application of the law is also the same: 

the McInarnays or their predecessors in title cannot move the easement and then claim that 

the easement is abandoned because the original grant location sits unused. 
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In a West Virginia case on similar facts, the Court found that the "mere fact that the 

holder of an easement has made a detour around some obstruction in a right-of-way does 

not extinguish or affect the existence of the right-of-way." Walls v. DeNoone, 209 W. Va. 

675,679; 550 S.E.2d 653,657 (2001) (citations omitted). In that case the placement of two 

gates blocked a right-of-way for several decades. The easement holders had climbed over or 

otherwise detoured around the gates. ld. at 676-77; 654-55. But this was not enough to 

convince this Court that the easement had been abandoned. ld. at 681; 659. On such a 

holding, it is difficult to find probative the facts that the McInarnays' emphasize such as the 

construction of the pond in the easement's path or its changing location (Brief for Petitioner 

at 9). Such facts are not in any way relevant to the fundamental existence of the right-of

way. 

Further West Virginia authority provides more support for the Hall family. In Scott 

v. Black a portion of an express easement was abandoned by the dominant estate and an 

alternative route established. The alternative route was agreed to by the then-current 

owners. 95 W. Va. 48, 52; 120 S.E. 167, 168 (1923). Though a portion of the right-of-way had 

been abandoned and therefore extinguished, the new route had been agreed upon and 

acquiesced to by all predecessors in title. The Scott Court reasoned that the right-of-way still 

obtained, holding that the facts of that case "prove ... [the dominant estate's] right to the 

unobstructed enjoyment of the new ... byvirtue of the agreement of exchange, executed by 

the subsequent acts of the [dominant estate] in using it, and of the [servient estate] in 

acquiescing in that use. ld. at 56; 170. 

The Scott rule applied to t;he facts at hand reaches an unequivocal result. The 

physical evidence attested to at trial showed a gate present ("slinky" style) in the relocated 

right-of-way route (Transcript at 234). This tends to prove that, at a minimum, the 
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McInamays' predecessors in title acquiesced to the right-of-way route change. And yet the 

Mclnamays' predecessors in title went further than mere acquiescence; Dr. Pike made an 

agreement that was evidenced by the mutual performance of the parties (ld. at 138). Dr. 

Pike agreed with the Hall family to use the gate at the relocated right-of-way to move cattle 

back and forth between the properties, to take hay, and to use it as a thoroughfare for heavy 

machinery (Id. at 213-14). This evidences a mutually understood and agreed upon right-of

way. 

3.3 The location of the easement is still an issue for the factfinder to resolve. 

Because there was as absolute absence of evidence presented at trial on the issue of 

abandonment, the easement still exists. However, because the granting language of the deed 

is not specific, its exact location is an open question. 

The McInarnays argue in their brief that a new trial will be simply be a "second bite 

at the apple" for the Hall family because the trial court has already ruled that there was no 

evidence for abandonment (Brief for Petitioner at 21). The McInarnays correctly surmise 

that at a new trial, the existence of the easement will be affirmed therefore resulting in an 

adverse ruling for the McInamays. However, as this heated controversy exists between 

neighbors, the location of the easement must be judicially determined or continued strife is 

likely to result. A new trial is necessary to determine the location of the easement as it has 

not been abandoned and it is a genuine issue of material fact where the easement lies. 

As the preceding arguments show that the McInarnays' case fails on the merits, we 

can now move to the assignments of error regarding procedural issues. 
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4. Failure to renew a Rule 50(b) motion does not preclude a grant of new trial 

under Rule 59. 

The McInarnays argue that because the Hall family's Rule 50(b) motion for 

judgment as a matter oflaw (JMOL) was defective due to timing, this somehow leads to the 

conclusion that the trial court's entry for a new trial under Ru1e 59 is just another ''bite at 

the apple." This is contrary to established case law and the plain meaning of the West 

Virginia Ru1es of Civil Procedure. The trial court has the discretion to grant a new trial 

under Rule 59 independently of other rules. Neely v. Belk Inc., 222 W. Va. 560, 566; 668 

S.E.2d 189,195 (2008). Furthermore, such a posture has federal precedent: "waiver of the 

right to request judgment n.o.v. does not prevent a party from moving for a new trial under 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 59(a), alleging that the verdict is against the weight of the evidence." 

Velazquez v. Figueroa-Gomez, 996 F.2d 425,427 (1st Cir. 1993) (citation omitted). 

The McInarnays' brief conflates the inability of the court to grant a JMOL with 

closing the door on a grant of a new trial under Ru1e 59. The McInarnays argue that "even if 

a motion for a new trial is made for insufficiency of the evidence, the failure to move for a 

directed verdict forecloses the question on appeal" (Brief for Petitioners at 7 quoting 

Chambers v. Smith, 157 W. Va. 77, 81; 198 S.E.2d 806, 809). However, the immediately 

preceding sentence to the above quote states: "The only exception is where the insufficiency 

of the evidence constitutes plain error apparent on the face of the record which if not 

noticed wou1d result in a manifest miscarriage ofjustice." Chambers v. Smith, 157 W. Va. 77, 

81; 198 S.E.2d 806,809 (1973). As argued earlier in this brief, a finding of abandonment on 

the zero evidence presented at trial is precluded as a matter oflaw. This presented the trial 

court with a plain error to correct and the only available remedy was a new trial. Because the 
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evidence necessary for the verdict is absolutely absent from the record, this constitutes plain 

error falling squarely within the exception. 

According to the logic of the McInarnays' brief-where a failure to move under Rule 

5o(b) precludes the court's power to grant a new trial under Rule 59-the court is robbed of 

an important tool in the administration of justice and Rule 59 becomes a toothless dead 

letter. Rule 59 exists for situations such as the controversy here. Without it a miscarriage of 

justice results. 

4.1 Miscarriage ofjustice results if a new trial is denied because there was 

an absolute absence ofevidence of intent to abandon. 

If the actions of the Hall family cannot be legally construed as abandonment, then 

the jury verdict returned is contrary to the plain meaning of the law. Ifsustained, the verdict 

will result in a manifest miscarriage of justice. The McInamays in their brief argue that the 

controlling legal precept should be that review of sufficiency of evidence is waived if a timely 

Rule 5o(b) is not filed (Brieffor Petitioner at 2). The Mclnarnays' seem to rely on a cursory 

reading of the case law. The nuanced rule as previously mentioned in Chambers is 

expounded in depth: 

[W]hen a motion for new trial has been made on the ground of insufficient evidence 

to support the verdict and no motion for directed verdict or j.n.o.v. has been made, 

sufficiency of evidence is not reviewable on appeal, this statement is not meant to 

curtail all review of sufficiency of evidence. Rather, it forecloses a review which 

evaluates and weighs the evidence, as opposed to one which looks only for existence 

of any evidence. Our consideration is limited to whether plain error has been 

committed which, ifnot noticed, would result in a manifest miscarriage ofjustice. 

This standard has also been described as an "absolute absence" of evidence to 

support the jury's verdict. 
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Bunch v. Walter, 673 F.2d 127,131 (5th Cir. 1982) (citations omitted). Thus, the reviewing 

Court need not evaluate and weigh the evidence. It need only look for the existence ofany 

evidence at all. If there is an absolute absence of evidence, then there is plain error and the 

trial court may order a new trial under Rule 59 to prevent the miscarriage ofjustice. 

CONCLUSION 

At trial, the McInarnays presented no evidence of intent that is necessary to find 

abandonment. The McInarnays relied on the inference of abandonment from the Hall 

family's intermittent use of the right-of-way. Because inferences of abandonment cannot be 

drawn from use as a matter oflaw, the McInarnays are left in the unenviable position as 

having presented not the slightest scintilla of evidence for abandonment. On this posture, 

the appellate Court does not have to evaluate and weigh the evidence that would make the 

Hall family's untimely Rule 5o(b) motion relevant. Rather, the Court may simply look to see 

the absolute absence of evidence. Seeing the absolute absence of evidence, the appellate 

Court can easily identify the same plain error that moved the trial court to grant a new trial. 

Because the trial court was correcting its own plain error of submitting the abandonment 

verdict form, it did not abuse its discretion in granting the Rule 59 motion. Therefore, this 

Court should preserve the order of the court below. 

Wherefore, respondents pray that this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's order

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